



# The Quality Framework for Community Engagement and Participation:

Supporting the delivery of effective engagement, developing practice and sharing learning

Self-evaluation tool

April 2023

© Healthcare Improvement Scotland 2020 Published April 2023

This document is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International Licence. This allows for the copy and redistribution of this document as long as Healthcare Improvement Scotland is fully acknowledged and given credit. The material must not be remixed, transformed or built upon in any way. To view a copy of this licence, visit https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/

www.hisengage.scot

## Contents

Introduction	4
How to use this tool	4
Domains	5
Statements	6
Summary Statements	6
Evidence	7
Definitions	8
Self-evaluation context	9
Domain 1: Ongoing engagement and involvement of people	10
Fulfilment of statutory duties and adherence to national guidelines	10
Support/Equalities	12
Co-production and design	13
Methods	14
Feedback	15
Evaluation and learning	15
Summary Statement - Domain 1 - Ongoing engagement and involvement of people	17
Domain 2: Involvement of people in service planning, strategy and design	18
Fulfilment of statutory duties and adherence to national guidelines	18
Co-production and design	19
Support/Equalities	21
Evaluation and learning	22
Summary statement - Domain 2 - Involvement of people in service planning, strategy and de	_
Domain 3: Governance and leadership - supporting community engagement and participation.	
Fulfilment of statutory duties and adherence to national guidelines	
Feedback and decision-making	26
Support/Equalities	27
Summary statement- Domain 3 - Governance and leadership - supporting community engagement and participation	30
Appendix	31
Statutory duties	31
Guidance	21

## Introduction

The <u>Quality Framework for Community Engagement and Participation</u> will support NHS Boards, health and social care partnerships and Local Authorities to meet their statutory duties<sup>1</sup> with regard to public involvement and community engagement in the planning and provision of health and social care. It provides a framework for what good quality engagement looks like and how this can be evaluated and demonstrated.

The development of the framework and self-evaluation tool brings together existing community engagement guidance, duties and frameworks (please see appendix 1 for a full list) and Scottish Government and COSLA's *Planning with People* guidance.

Therefore, it may be useful to consider information and evidence you have used in other recent reviews and self-evaluations by the Care Inspectorate, Healthcare Improvement Scotland and Audit Scotland.

The quality framework is intended to be used for organisational or service level self-evaluation of engagement, not to self-evaluate individual service changes or redesign. Healthcare Improvement Scotland – Community Engagement has a quality assurance role in this process and further information can be found on our website- <a href="https://www.hisengage.scot/service-change/">https://www.hisengage.scot/service-change/</a>

## How to use this tool

We have developed a <u>guide to self-evaluation</u> that provides further detail on how to approach the process and who to involve.

The completed self-evaluation should focus on outcomes rather than activities. This could include a description of the impact of engagement, changes made as a result of feedback, or information on how potential impact is being monitored.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The relevant duties, guidance and standards that inform this framework are noted in appendix 1

#### **Domains**

The self-evaluation should tell a story about where you perceive your organisation, or service<sup>2</sup>, to be overall against each domain in the framework.

This tool has been developed to enable organisations to evaluate their performance against three areas of focus, called domains, which are outlined within the framework. The domains can be used individually or in a combination depending on what the focus of the organisation, or service is, at that time.

Within the three domains there are two associated quality indicators and statements. These guide discussion and support evaluation with a view to answering key questions. The quality indicators could be considered as the outcomes to be measured.

Domain 1: Ongoing engagement and involvement of people	<ul> <li>The organisation undertakes ongoing engagement with people and communities to ensure that services meet their needs, identify sustainable service improvements and to develop trust.</li> <li>The approach to engagement is inclusive, meaningful and is evaluated to identify learning and the impacts.</li> </ul>
Domain 2: Involvement of	The involvement of people and communities has had a
people in service planning,	positive impact on service change and strategy
strategy and design	<ul> <li>development and has been planned as part of the organisation's wider engagement strategy.</li> <li>People representing communities have been involved throughout the development, planning and decision-making process for service change and strategy development.</li> </ul>
Domain 3: Governance and	Robust corporate governance arrangements are
leadership - supporting	followed for involving people; founded on mutuality,
community engagement and	transparency, equality, diversity and human rights
participation.	principles.
	<ul> <li>To engage effectively and inform decision-making, the organisation supports and improves the participation of people by dedicating resources (both in people, time and budget).</li> </ul>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> When we refer to organisation, you may also apply this to a specific service.

#### **Statements**

The statements (questions) are prompts to help you consider, overall, how well the organisation is meeting the indicators for each domain; the success criteria.

We note not all the statements may apply to every NHS board and health and social care partnerships, due to the individual circumstances of each organisation. Healthcare Improvement Scotland – Community Engagement staff are happy to discuss with you how best to apply the framework to your organisation.

People aren't expected to be able to answer every question, in every domain and there is an option to reflect this in the answers, and in the summary statement sections. We have added 'don't know' or 'unsure' response options to the self-evaluation tool to reflect this; these responses may also help to indicate areas where further awareness or support is required. There are comment boxes after each statement so people can explain their answer.

It may be useful to consider holding information sessions for people less familiar with the relevant guidance and statutory duties; to help to explain the guidance, duties and engagement taking place within the organisation or service.

All the domains include statements about the public sector equality duties, the Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties) (Scotland) Regulations 2012, which must be answered in relation to the specific domain each time, but you only need to consider how would you evidence this once.

Organisations that have tested the self-evaluation tool suggest that it may be useful to use an online survey tool, which has a 'save and return' option for people who wish to return to the survey once reviewing further information and evidence. It was also suggested that people may wish to meet to complete the self-evaluation together and have the opportunity to discuss the statements.

Please note the change in the scale between the different statements and domains.

#### **Summary Statements**

For each statement summary, please provide an honest and succinct view on how you perceive the organisation to be, how you know this (the evidence you have) and what needs to be improved or done differently. This section should also give some context to your answers; your stakeholder group, your response and conclusions.

This should include examples that demonstrate the impact of engagement and improvements made for those who use or deliver health and social care services. You can provide and highlight

additional relevant information, background and context in the section too, to support your discussions.

We appreciate that not everyone will be able to attend all the consensus and improvement planning sessions. Therefore, it may be useful to collate the information, and suggestions for areas of improvement from the summary statements to inform these activities.

Completing the self-evaluation tool is the first stage in the five step process to improve the quality of your community engagement and participation work.

#### **Evidence**

You don't need to provide evidence for every statement and some of the evidence is likely to overlap across the domains. The evidence is for you to consider as an organisation and provide you with assurance as to how you are performing.

In answering the statements, and completing the tool, it may be useful to consider the following evidence:

- Strategies that are in place for ongoing community engagement.
- Structures that are in place to seek the views of people and communities for example, locality planning and empowerment groups, committees with representatives, lay and third sector representatives on boards, online community panels.
- Policies to help people take part in improving healthcare services.
- How you support people who may find it more difficult to be involved.
- How feedback (from complaints and informal feedback) is used to inform ongoing service improvement.
- Evaluation that has been undertaken of engagement activity.
- Evidence of the difference that engagement has made and how you tell people how their views have been taken into account.

Those completing the self-evaluation tool are encouraged to use information from different sources to triangulate evidence of the quality of engagement. To understand the quality of engagement delivered you need to know the views of those accessing the service or impacted by the service. Feedback should be sought from people and communities to inform the completion of the self-evaluation.

## **Definitions**

The reference to 'Board members' in this document refers to both executive and nonexecutive members and 'senior leaders' refers to senior staff and executive officers who have designated responsibility for community engagement.

By 'people' we mean patients, people experiencing and accessing health and social care services, carers, families.

By 'communities' we mean a group of people who share a common place, a common interest, or a common identity. There are also individuals and groups with common needs. It is important to recognise that communities are diverse and that people can belong to several at one time.

By 'meaningful engagement' we mean working together with people affected by a particular policy, event or change and ensuring people of all backgrounds can take part and have their voice heard and acted upon.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> How to design and plan public engagement processes: a handbook, What Works Scotland, 2020https://policyscotland.gla.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/WWSPublicEngagementHandbook.pdf

## Self-evaluation context

Organisation name:
Date of Completion:
Please use the box below to highlight relevant contextual and background information about the organisation and your input to their community engagement work.

## **Domain 1: Ongoing engagement and involvement of people**

- i. The organisation undertakes ongoing engagement with people and communities to ensure that services meet their needs, identify sustainable service improvements and to develop trust.
- ii. The approach to engagement is inclusive, meaningful and is evaluated to identify learning and the impacts.

#### Fulfilment of statutory duties and adherence to national guidelines

Strongly agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree	Unsure	
omments					
organisation has un	dertaken training a	and awareness raisin	g with its staff in relation t	o engagement with people	e and communit
seldom heard. (Seld	_		g with its staff in relation to defined by, but not limited		
seldom heard. (Seld nicity, Sexuality)	lom heard people a	and communities as	defined by, but not limited	to, Age, Socio-economic/o	
_	_		<del>-</del>		

informed by Equality begins and is updated	Impact Assessment (vill throughout the eng	which is undertaken with	consideration give	nclusive and reflect the dive en to stakeholder input), be nent can help to identify pot mpact.)	fore engagement activity
Very confident	Fairly confident	Not very confident	Not at all confident	Unsure	
communities, commu	inities experiencing h		ty and supports pe	munities, under-represente ople to take part in ongoing <u>Duties</u> ).	• •
Always	Almost always	Sometimes	Never	Don't know	
Comments					

## **Support/Equalities**

Very confident	Fairly confident	Not very confident	Not at all confident	Unsure	
nments					
organisation suppo	orts carers, and care	r's organisations, to be ir	nvolved in wider deci	sion-making about the way	services are <sub>l</sub>
•		•		sion-making about the way ine with the <u>Health &amp; Socia</u>	•
•		pack and concerns have b		-	•
can show that the	eir suggestions, feedb	pack and concerns have b	peen considered. (In	ine with the <u>Health &amp; Socia</u>	•

## **Co-production and design**

Always	Almost always	Sometimes	Never	Don't know	
omments					
organisation rai	ses awareness, promote	s, and provides suppo	rt with participatior	n requests; especially in relation to	o people an
nmunities who n	may be seldom heard or	who face additional ba	orriers. (Part 3 of th	e Community Empowerment Act 2	
nmunities who n	• •	who face additional ba	orriers. (Part 3 of th	e Community Empowerment Act 2	

t (	understanding of local n hem (in line with the He	eeds and ensure lo ealth and Social Ca	ocal communities are re Standards and <u>Th</u> o	e Local Government (Scot	decisions made on puland) Act 2003). (Comi	develop a common blic services which will affect munity Planning Partnership police and fire services, and
	Strongly agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree	Unsure	
	Comments					
Met	hods					
	_	<u> </u>		· ·		methods to understand the ods of online engagement).
	Strongly agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree	Unsure	
	Comments					
	Comments					

<b>1.11</b> The organisation car groups) and has work	n provide examples of v ked with them when pla	-	•	ludes charities, social en	terprises and voluntary
Strongly agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree	Unsure	
Comments					
Feedback					
<b>1.12</b> The organisation kee outcome of the e	• • •	nities informed of p	progress during the engag	gement process and pro	vides feedback on the
Always	Almost always	Sometimes	Never	Don't know	
Comments					
Evaluation and learning					
1.13 The organisation re	gularly considers the im	pact of engagemer	nt to ensure the right pec	pple and communities ar	e being involved.
Always	Almost always	Sometimes	Never	Don't know	
Comments					

organisation has worked with partner organisations (such as councils, other NHS Boards, health and social care parties services and other public bodies) to share experiences and approaches to support community engagement.	ongly agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree	Unsure	
re services and other public bodies) to share experiences and approaches to support community engagement.	ments					
re services and other public bodies) to share experiences and approaches to support community engagement.						
re services and other public bodies) to share experiences and approaches to support community engagement.						
re services and other public bodies) to share experiences and approaches to support community engagement.	organisation has v	worked with partner	organisations (such	as councils, other NHS Bo	pards, health and socia	l care partnershir
Always Almost always Comotimes Nover Don't know	_	•	•			•
Always Almost always Sometimes Never Don't know	e services and ot	tier public bodies) to	share experiences	and approaches to suppo	it community chigagen	ient.
	Always	Almost always	Sometimes	Never	Don't know	ient.
			·		, ,	ient.

#### Summary Statement - Domain 1 - Ongoing engagement and involvement of people

The following key questions should guide your responses to the summary statements below:

- How is the organisation doing in respect of this domain?
- How do you know this? Explain your responses.
- What does the organisation need to do better or differently? (For example, what are the key next steps or areas for improvement the organisation needs to take?)

ice that suppo						
provide furth	er details on how t	the organisation	can improve its a	pproach to involv	ing people and co	mmunities.
provide furth	er details on how t	:he organisation	can improve its a	pproach to involv	ing people and co	mmunities.
provide furth	er details on how t	:he organisation	can improve its a	pproach to involv	ing people and co	mmunities.
provide furth	er details on how t	the organisation	can improve its a	pproach to involv	ing people and co	mmunities.
provide furth	er details on how	the organisation	can improve its a	pproach to involv	ing people and co	mmunities.

### Domain 2: Involvement of people in service planning, strategy and design

- The involvement of people and communities has had a positive impact on service change and strategy development and has been planned as part of the organisation's wider engagement strategy.
- People representing communities have been involved throughout the development, planning and decision-making process for service change and strategy development.

Always	Almost always	Sometimes	Never	Don't know	
mments					
organisation be	ac manningfully involved	needle and communit	tios throughout the	development planning and de	voicion making
_	• •	• •	•	development, planning and de	
service change a	and strategic planning ( <u>in</u>	line with current guic	dance and statutory	duties to involve people in the	e design and d
service change a services). By 'i	and strategic planning ( <u>in</u> meaningful engagement'	line with current guic we mean working tog	dance and statutory gether with people	duties to involve people in the affected by a particular policy,	e design and d
service change a services). By 'i	and strategic planning ( <u>in</u>	line with current guic we mean working tog	dance and statutory gether with people	duties to involve people in the affected by a particular policy,	e design and d
service change a services). By 'i	and strategic planning ( <u>in</u> meaningful engagement'	line with current guic we mean working tog	dance and statutory gether with people	duties to involve people in the affected by a particular policy,	e design and d

Always	Almost always	Sometimes	Never	Don't know	
omments					
•	<u>-</u>			w how they have taken accouning the reasons for decisions	
	eridCida	Not very confident	Not at all	Unsure	
ery confident	Fairly confident	Not very confident			
ery confident	Fairly confident		confident		
	Fairly confident				
Comments  uction and design					
Comments  uction and design	gn s worked together with		confident	I structures to support comm	unity engag

actively involving staker	people and communolders in the desig	inities from the start in process and is key	of any process through to	o decision-making. (Co engagement. It has be	o-design is the approach of een described as the process
Strongly agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree	Unsure	
Comments					
<b>2.7</b> The organisation provide that affects their lives and			to enable people to get in lealth and Social Care Star		the decision-making proces
Strongly agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree	Unsure	
Comments	_				

## **Support/Equalities**

ery confident	Fairly confident	Not very confident	Not at all confident	Unsure	
Comments					
Always	Almost always	Sometimes			
	Alliost always				
omments	Alliost always				

people and communi incorporation to invo	ities to take part in serv	ice redesign and str -making. (Seldom h	rategy development for e eard people and commun	example, meeting the nities as defined by, b	mmunities, and supported new duties under <u>UNCRC</u> out not limited to, Age, Socio-Homelessness, Geographical
Strongly agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree	Unsure	
Comments					
Evaluation and learning					
_			agement process and fee		ring the engagement process
Always	Almost always	Sometimes	Never	Don't know	
Comments					

•	13 The organisation has evaluated the effectiveness of its engagement in service redesign and strategic p learning across the organisation to inform future practice.					
Always	Almost always	Sometimes	Never	Don't know		
Comments						

#### Summary statement - Domain 2 - Involvement of people in service planning, strategy and design

The following key questions should guide your responses to the summary statements below:

- How is the organisation doing in respect of this domain?
- How do you know this? Explain your responses.
- What does the organisation need to do better or differently? (For example, what are the key next steps or areas for improvement the organisation needs to take forward?)

	ese views.				
rovide further de	tails on how the organisa	ation can improve its	approach to involving	g people.	
rovide further de	tails on how the organisa	ation can improve its	approach to involving	g people.	
rovide further de	tails on how the organisa	ation can improve its	approach to involving	g people.	
rovide further de	tails on how the organisa	ation can improve its	approach to involving	g people.	
rovide further de	tails on how the organisa	ation can improve its	approach to involving	g people.	
rovide further de	tails on how the organisa	ation can improve its	approach to involving	g people.	

#### Domain 3: Governance and leadership - supporting community engagement and participation

- i. Robust corporate governance arrangements are followed for involving people, founded on mutuality, transparency, equality, diversity and human rights principles.
- ii. To engage effectively and inform decision-making, the organisation supports and improves the participation of people by dedicating resources (in people, time and budget).

This domain should be completed with input from senior leaders with responsibility for the delivery and governance of the organisation's community engagement work

#### Fulfilment of statutory duties and adherence to national guidelines

		Not very confident	Not at all confident	Unsure	
Comments	senior leadership hav	ve committed the neces	ssary resources (neonle	, time and money) for deli	ivering meaningful
mmunity engageme	•			•	
	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree	Unsure	

Strongly agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree	Unsure	
omments					
posed service cha	nge will have a major i	impact. The board has		te stakeholder engagemer stakeholder engagement i portionate and robust.	•
Strongly agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree	Unsure	
omments					
ck and decision-n	-	aking process is transi	parent and clearly demo	onstrates how the views of	communities ha
•	nd the reasons for dec	<del>-</del> '	,		
	Fairly confident	Not very confident	Not at all	Unsure	
Very confident	ramy connactic		confident		

## **Support/Equalities**

strategic decisions they	make about polic	cy, strategy or service	e. (The Fairer Scotland Du	ity (the Duty) ca	qualities of outcome) in any mame into force on 1 April 2018
•	•		id to actively consider ('p aking strategic decisions.	, -	to) how they can reduce inequ
Strongly agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree	Unsure	
Comments					
new or revised policy, st	trategy or service	. (The Act introduces help create the right	measures to support and	d help meet the	(Scotland) Act when introducing unique needs of Scotland's is dempowered communities.)  Not applicable
new or revised policy, st now and in the future. In Strongly agree	trategy or service t will also seek to	. (The Act introduces help create the right	measures to support and environment for sustain	d help meet the able growth an	unique needs of Scotland's is dempowered communities.)
new or revised policy, st now and in the future. In Strongly agree Comments	trategy or service t will also seek to Agree	. (The Act introduces help create the right <b>Disagree</b>	measures to support and environment for sustain  Strongly Disagree	d help meet the able growth and Unsure	unique needs of Scotland's is dempowered communities.)
new or revised policy, st now and in the future. In Strongly agree  Comments	trategy or service t will also seek to Agree	. (The Act introduces help create the right <b>Disagree</b>	measures to support and environment for sustain  Strongly Disagree	d help meet the able growth and Unsure	e unique needs of Scotland's is d empowered communities.)  Not applicable

Strongly agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree	Unsure	
omments					
minents					
<b>0</b> Staff and organisatior outside the organisation		vely sought out good p	practice and learning on	community engagement	from both within a
Strongly agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree	Unsure	
omments					
1 How confident are yo organisation's engagen		ate forums/committee	s are in place to support	the assurance and impro	vement of the
o. Ballisation o engager				Haarina	
Very confident	Fairly confident	Not very confident	Not at all confident	Unsure	
	Fairly confident	Not very confident		Onsure	

Very confident	Fairly confident	Not very confident	Not at all confident	Unsure
ents				

3.12 How confident are you that all decision-making forums/committees seek assurance from staff on how people and communities have

#### Summary statement- Domain 3 - Governance and leadership - supporting community engagement and participation

The following key questions should guide your responses to the summary statements below:

- How is the organisation doing in respect of this domain?
- How do you know this? Please explain your answers.
- What does the organisation need to do better or differently? (For example, what are the key next steps or areas for improvement the organisation needs to take?)

rovide further	details on how you feel	the organisation can	improve its approach t	o involving people and c	ommunities.

## **Appendix**

#### **Statutory duties**

- NHS Reform (Scotland) Act, Section 7: Duty to encourage public involvement www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2004/7/contents
- Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014, section 36 <a href="https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2014/9/section/36/2014-04-02">https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2014/9/section/36/2014-04-02</a>?timeline=false
- Equality Act 2010 www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
- Fairer Scotland Duty (2018)- <a href="https://www.gov.scot/publications/fairer-scotland-duty-guidance-public-bodies/">https://www.gov.scot/publications/fairer-scotland-duty-guidance-public-bodies/</a>
- Islands (Scotland) Act 2018 www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2018/12/contents
- Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2015/6/contents/enacted
- Human Rights Act 1998 <a href="https://www.gov.scot/policies/human-rights">https://www.gov.scot/policies/human-rights</a>

#### **Guidance**

- Planning with People Community engagement and participation guidance for NHS Boards, Integration Joint Boards and Local Authorities
  that are planning and commissioning care services in Scotland, Scottish Government and COSLA (April 2023)<a href="https://www.gov.scot/publications/planning-people-community-engagement-participation-guidance/">https://www.gov.scot/publications/planning-people-community-engagement-participation-guidance/</a>
- Health and Social Care Standards: my support, my life, Scottish Government (2017) <a href="www.gov.scot/publications/health-social-care-standards-support-life/">www.gov.scot/publications/health-social-care-standards-support-life/</a>
- CEL 4 (2010) Informing, Engaging Consulting People in Developing Health and Community Care Services, Scottish Government 2010 www.sehd.scot.nhs.uk/mels/CEL2010 04.pdf
- The National Standards for Community Engagement (2016), Scottish Community Development Centre <a href="www.scdc.org.uk/what/national-standards/">www.scdc.org.uk/what/national-standards/</a>
- NHS Scotland Health Boards and Special Boards —The Blueprint for Good Governance in NHS Scotland- Second Edition (November 2022)- https://www.gov.scot/publications/blueprint-good-governance-nhs-scotland-second-edition/

- Ministerial Strategic Group for Health and Community Care Review of Progress with Integration of Health and Social Care, Final Report,
   February 2019 <a href="www.gov.scot/publications/ministerial-strategic-group-health-community-care-review-progress-integration-health-social-care-final-report/">www.gov.scot/publications/ministerial-strategic-group-health-community-care-review-progress-integration-health-social-care-final-report/</a>
- COSLA's New Blueprint for Local Government www.cosla.gov.uk/ data/assets/pdf file/0021/19551/LG-Blueprint.pdf
- Planning and delivering integrated health and social care: guidance <a href="www.gov.scot/publications/guidance-principles-planning-delivering-integrated-health-social-care/">www.gov.scot/publications/guidance-principles-planning-delivering-integrated-health-social-care/</a>
- Audit Scotland expectations for auditing Best Value in IJBs/HSCPs www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/our-work/best-value
- Community Empowerment Act (CEA) Guidance, Part 2 Purpose of Community Planning <a href="www.gov.scot/publications/community-empowerment-scotland-act-2015-part-2-community-planning-guidance/">www.gov.scot/publications/community-empowerment-scotland-act-2015-part-2-community-planning-guidance/</a>
- Gunning Principles <u>www.consultationinstitute.org/the-gunning-principles-implications/</u>
- Inclusion health principles and practice, Public Health Scotland <a href="https://publichealthscotland.scot/media/2832/inclusion-health-principles-and-practice.pdf">https://publichealthscotland.scot/media/2832/inclusion-health-principles-and-practice.pdf</a>
- Gaun Yersel Self Management Strategy for Scotland www.alliance-scotland.org.uk/blog/resources/gaun-yersel/
- Third Sector Engagement Matrix <a href="https://mk0voluntaryheaenrww.kinstacdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/05/Engagement Matrix ed2 web.pdf">https://mk0voluntaryheaenrww.kinstacdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/05/Engagement Matrix ed2 web.pdf</a>
- Equal and Expert Best Practice Standards for Carer Engagement <u>www.carersnet.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/Equal-Expert-3-best-practice-standards-for-carer-engagement.pdf</u>
- Charter of Patient Rights and Responsibilities <a href="www.gov.scot/publications/charter-patient-rights-responsibilities-2/">www.gov.scot/publications/charter-patient-rights-responsibilities-2/</a>
- Right First Time, Scottish Government <a href="https://www.gov.scot/publications/right-first-time-practical-guide-public-authorities-scotland-decision-making-law-second-decision-making-law-second-edition/#:~:text=Right%20First%20Time%20is%20a%20practical%20guide%20for,public%20discourse%20around%20the%20actions%20of%20public%20bodies.</li>
- Principles of Community Empowerment, Audit Scotland <a href="www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/report/principles-for-community-empowerment">www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/report/principles-for-community-empowerment</a>